

Clear evidence, better decisions, more learning.

CASE STUDY

Education technology in the COVID-19 response in Nigeria

Date November 2020

AuthorsIsisi Akogun, Common Heritage FoundationOmolola Olojede, Common Heritage FoundationAdedoyin Adesina, Common Heritage FoundationOladele Akogun, Common Heritage Foundation

#EdTechHub @GlobalEdTechHub edtechhub.org

Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/

About this document	
Recommended citation	Akogun, I., Olojede, O., Adesina, A., & Akogun, O. (2020). Education technology in the COVID-19 response in Nigeria. Case study. EdTech Hub. <u>https://edtechhub.</u> org.
Licence	Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International https://creativecommons.org/ licenses/by/4.0/.
	You — dear readers — are free to share (copy and redistribute the material in any medium or format) and adapt (remix, transform, and build upon the material) for any purpose, even commercially. You must give appropriate credit, provide a link to the license, and indicate if changes were made. You may do so in any reasonable manner, but not in any way that suggests the licensor endorses you or your use.
Notes	You can contact EdTech Hub here: <u>https://edtechhub.org/hello/</u> .
Version	1
Acknowledgments	The Common Heritage Foundation is grateful to EdTech Hub for funding this case study.
	The study team would like to express their appreciation to Moizza Binat Sarwar for helpful comments and guidance throughout the work. We are particularly grateful for the guidance provided by Moizza Binat Sarwar, to Sachin Gathani for peer review and Sophie Gillespie for copy-editing and proofreading, and to Susan Nicolai for the final review and signing off. The authors are grateful to Motunrayo Alaka, Adebayo Adebukola and Hyeladzira Balami for editorial suggestions. We thank the participants of the interviews for their time and valuable insights.

Contents

Acronyms		04
Key findings		05
1 Introduction		06
2 The length of the school closures was not ar	iticipated	07
3 The federal government response to the sch	ool closures	80
4 State governments introduce remote learning	Ŋ	10
5 Non-state actors respond to the prolonged s	chool closures	11
6 The private sector seized the initiative and ra	apidly occupied the Ed-Tech gap	12
7 There are many hurdles to e-learning		13
Poor infrastructure is a significant obstacle		13
Pupils from under-served, low-income comr	nunities may be left out	13
Girls are particularly affected by school closu	Ires	13
E-learning excluded learners with disabilities	5	14
Public school teachers must become e-litera	ite	14
Parents will have the challenge of supportin	g their children at home	14
8 Finally, a wake-up call		16
References		17

Acronyms

ICT Information and Communications Technology

FMoE Federal Ministry of Education

Key findings

The long duration of school closures caught Nigerian education stakeholders unprepared in many ways:

- Many federal policies recognise the application of technology in education delivery, but not for e-learning at basic education level.
- Although the government developed a three-scenario strategy for responding to school closures, which included distance education, its implementation did not consider the challenges of gender, special needs, location, infrastructure and economic status.
- The government formed partnerships with private and non-government organisations to provide some e-learning to teachers and secondary school students.
- The various distance education initiatives rely on technology, which depends on electricity supply and internet connectivity. The infrastructure to support e-learning is poor, with only 56% of Nigerians having access to electricity, and 42% to internet.
- Teachers' limited access to computers and the internet hampers their capacity to transition to digital learning.
- The distance learning platform requires parental support at home. The level of necessary support will depend on the technology through which the distance learning is conveyed, the parents' level of knowledge, the amount of time available, and their facilitation skills.
- The states and many private radio and television stations introduced a more curriculum-focused programming schedule when school closures became prolonged. States did not follow the federal scenario plan. Many states, such as Lagos and Ogun, adapted the interactive radio instruction and instructional television mode of teaching to complement private initiatives in the third week of closures. The governments of Edo and Lagos State introduced e-learning for basic education students (Esoedu 2020).
- Unfortunately, the prolonged school closures highlighted regional differences in the application of technology to learning. The transition from one scenario to the other depended on state resources and education plans.

1 Introduction

When the first COVID-19 case was reported in Lagos on 27th February 2020, the state government activated its public health emergency team and closed schools (Lagos Cable, 2020). As more cases were reported, the federal government set up a presidential task force led by the Nigeria Centre for Disease Control and issued a lockdown order (Mbah, 2020) on Lagos, Ogun and the Federal Capital Territory. On 19th March 2020 the Federal Ministry of Education ordered the immediate closure of all its 104 unity schools (FMoE, 2020) and directed the closure of all other schools (including private schools) before 23rd March. The Nigerian constitution provides the states and the federal government with similar powers for making laws regarding education. The National Council on Education, comprising 36 states, determines basic requirements and policies on education. The Federal Ministry of Education encourages states to comply with such policies through input into aspects of education. However, state governments are responsible for implementing policies in state schools. The Nigerian education system encompasses three levels: basic education (nine years), post-basic/senior secondary education (three years) and tertiary education (four to six years depending on the programme of study). Unity schools are secondary schools that the federal government established in each state to promote national unity through the interaction of students from various parts of the country.

2 The length of the school closures was not anticipated

The school closures affected about 40 million learners, 91% of whom are in primary and secondary schools (UNESCO, 2020). The long duration of the school closures was unprecedented, and no one anticipated the closures would disrupt the already fragile education system. Closures worsened existing challenges to basic education and learning with an estimated 10.5 million of the country's children aged 5–14 years not in school. Before the closures, schools were finishing up the second term. Some schools were about to begin end-of-term examinations, while other schools were already in the middle of examinations. A teacher whose school was in the middle of examinations summed up the general impression:

'The government sent a message to our school to shut down, the exams had commenced, but there was nothing we could do. We sent the pupils home. We thought that it would be like that of Ebola, when the holidays were extended by two weeks. We did not plan for this long lockdown.'

3 The federal government response to the school closures

As public anxiety grew regarding the interruption to learning, the Federal Ministry of Education and its agency, the Universal Basic Education Commission, set up a Coordinated Response Task Team for a Learn at Home Programme. The team developed a plan to support distance learning under three possible scenarios (FMoE, 2020).

The first month of closures would be regarded as a standard-length school holiday. The government would raise awareness about the virus and share safety guidance by radio and television. Should the closures last for more than one month (but less than three), the response plan identified the need to provide audio-visual channels and to develop more sustainable strategies to support learning from home. Finally, should the closures last more than three months, the government would initiate a structured approach to encourage curriculum digitisation and develop instructional material for radio, television or self-learning. The Universal Basic Education Commission and other stakeholders would also develop a plan for continuing learning and adjusting examination schedules.

Many federal policies recognise the application of technology in education delivery, but not for e-learning at basic education level. A senior official of the Federal Ministry of Education confirmed that they were 'not aware of any policy or legislation supporting distance learning for basic education in Nigeria'.

The National Policy on Education (FMoE, 2013) and the National Information Communication Technology (ICT) Policy recommends the use of ICT skills as a tool for learning. Nigeria's 2015 Policy on Education for All prescribes the use of communication technology for open and distance learning and recommends the establishment of open and distance learning with a focus on higher education and teacher education (UNESCO, 2000). Although guidelines and policies encourage the acquisition of computer knowledge and skills for software development, internet and digital broadcasting (FMCT, 2012), they do not recommend its use in e-Learning. The 2019 National Policy on Information and Communication Technologies in Education, for example, only proposes e-learning for migrant communities and adult learners (FMoE, 2019). On the other hand, the 2019 National Implementation Guidelines for ICT in Education highlight the use of Open Educational Resources to improve access to ICT education, and to strengthen and expand open and distance learning.

When the school closures entered the second scenario (schools having been closed for longer than one month), the Nigeria Education In Emergency Working Group set activities in motion by focusing on distance education for learners and teachers in north-eastern Nigeria.

The Federal Ministry of Education's Learn at Home Programme provided access to two e-learning portals, schoolgate.ng and mobileclassroom.com.ng, which, in partnership with local mobile internet service providers, permits subscription-free access to primary and secondary school students.

State governments also scaled up learning via local television and radio, based on the secondary curriculum, and encouraged input from non-governmental organisations.

For example, the Ogun State government worked with Teach for Nigeria to deliver classes to pupils using television and radio and held webinar workshops for teachers. Some secondary schools independently initiated e-Learning using platforms such as Google Classrooms, Edmundo, IXL and WhatsApp. However, the impact on learning has not yet been evaluated.

The response sequence may be similar across states, but the emphasis and dates differ and, due to the federal system, state and federal authorities sometimes disagree on specifics, such as school re-opening dates.

Date	Response
28th January	Federal government sets up a coronavirus preparedness group
27th February	First case of coronavirus reported in Nigeria
7th March	Federal government establishes the Presidential Task Force on COVID-19
19th March	Federal Ministry of Education announces the closure of its schools with effect from 23rd March and advises states and private schools to do the same
20th March	Borno State government closes schools, establishes a state response team
23rd March	Many states formally close down schools
24th March	Joint Exams and Matriculation Board and National Examinations Council suspend examination dates
1st April	States adopt response strategies that best suit their circumstances
14th July	Centre for Disease Control issues guidelines for school re-opening
30th July	Federal government and Oyo State disagree on school re-opening dates
3rd August	Lagos, Oyo, Ondo, Ogun, Ekiti and Osun States re-open schools for transition classes (Primary 6, JSS3, SS3) in disagreement with federal government
4th August	Federal government and other state schools re-open for exit classes (Primary 6, JSS3, SS3)
14th August	Examinations held for graduating class P6, JSS3, SS3 only

4 State governments introduce remote learning

The states and many private radio and television stations introduced a more curriculum-focused programming schedule when the school closures became prolonged. States did not follow the federal scenario plan. Many states, such as Lagos and Ogun, adapted the interactive radio instruction and instructional television mode of teaching (FMoE, 2013) to complement private initiatives in the third week of closures. Unfortunately, the prolonged school closures highlighted regional differences in the application of technology for learning. The transition from one scenario to the other depended on state resources and education plans. For example, while states in the south-west deployed radio and television to reach rural students (Rufai, 2020), the Bauchi State Universal Education Board partnered with USAID and UNICEF to develop an e-learning programme for pupils in Koranic, primary and secondary schools. Children living in the north-east adopted UNICEF's e-learning initiatives. Kwara and Lagos States deployed local media channels, particularly the radio, to reach learners in remote communities. Lagos State commenced a smart teaching workforce (This Day, 2020), which is essentially online training for its post-primary teachers on e-learning. The government collaborated with some ICT firms to upgrade school websites for e-learning.

Many unity schools, such as Ijanikin, Queens College and Kings College continued learning using online facilities. Parents complained of the cost of internet access and providing electricity for the period.

UNESCO also made the educational contents of its School Meets the Learner Approach freely available on many platforms, including radio, television and YouTube. The lessons aligned with Nigeria's formal and non-formal curriculum for basic literacy. Meanwhile, state governments included early child development education, which was initially omitted from the radio and television programmes. A Federal Ministry of Education official stated that: 'State television and radio education programmes did not consider children below 5 years, but we have corrected that. Early child development education stakeholders had a webinar to develop radio and television programmes for "learning from the environment" for UBEC (Universal Basic Education Commission) distribution to states.'

5 Non-state actors respond to the prolonged school closures

As the school closures entered the third scenario, non-government, non-profit and for-profit organisations and private educational institutions introduced various forms of e-learning and computer-based internet education. One parent said: 'Some private schools have their online platforms and can conduct virtual learning classes daily from 8am to 2pm'.

In partnership with some state governments, Teach-for-Nigeria commenced a programme of infrastructure development to facilitate virtual learning. In Ogun State, Teach for Nigeria held e-learning capacity-building workshops for teachers. Other organisations, such as teachers' unions, trained their members via webinars on how to use e-resources for teaching. However, parents with children in early grades expressed disappointment that none of the programmes included their children. They organised groups to launch a private e-learning programme for early grades.

'It is worse for parents with children in junior secondary school. We did not receive any advice on how our children can continue learning during school closures. We are taking personal initiative'. (A parent)

6 The private sector seized the initiative and rapidly occupied the Ed-Tech gap

Skool Media introduced a Telegram learning platform for unity schools, the primary function of which is to pass information to students. Some private and low-cost learning platforms, such as ULesson, were mounted on handheld devices that focused on junior secondary science subjects. The three-day virtual bootcamp, supported by UNICEF, is a popular learning platform among teenagers in suburban Borno and Lagos State communities. While virtual classrooms with multimedia capabilities such as Edmodo were broad-based in content, Gopius learning management system and Easyprep focused on the primary school curriculum. Platforms such as Tuteria, Proteach and Prepclass emerged, connecting learners with subject specialists for one-on-one tutoring. The First Bank of Nigeria backed Roducate and provided an online and offline platform for hosting basic education.

7 There are many hurdles to e-learning

Poor infrastructure is a significant obstacle

The various distance education initiatives rely on technology, which depends on electricity supply and internet connectivity. The infrastructure to support e-learning is poor, with only 56% of Nigerians having access to electricity, and 42% having internet access. In addition, 88.4% of Nigerians have a radio, and 46.1% have a television. Although 83% of Nigerians have mobile phone connections, access is skewed towards middle- and upper-class households, the majority of whom have children in private schools. Digital devices may not be available, and where they are, these cannot be shared easily. Once the infrastructure is in place it will be left to be seen how it influences learning. A Lagos State government official remarked that:

'To bypass the challenge of poor electricity, we plan to convert TV and radio programmes to movable files that can be made available on social media platforms where they can be downloaded in the absence of electricity'.

Pupils from under-served, low-income communities may be left out

Access to resources is a challenge for impoverished students seeking access to technology-driven education outside of school. Despite its enormous resources, Nigeria is rated as one of the world's poorest countries, with more than half of its population living in extreme poverty, according to the World Bank benchmark. Disparities in distance learning are particularly evident in low-income groups due to a lack of access to computers or internet facilities. Under these conditions, parents and guardians must prioritise internet subscriptions or buying a television, radio or computer, which will likely be considered non-essential luxuries. Schools with students from high-income families transitioned to e-learning effortlessly by deploying technology to ensure learning continuity. Schools that serve more impoverished rural communities must wait for government support, leaving students without access to learning and struggling to keep up with their peers.

Girls are particularly affected by school closures

Girls take on a disproportionately higher burden of domestic housework than boys, and so finding the time to learn at home may be difficult (Equality Now 2020). In rural areas and poor urban areas, boys and girls engage in income-generating activities such as farming, hawking and artisanry and may not have time to study (Obiezu 2020).

'There are no specific plans to reach the girl-child. The proportion of girls that attend school is lower than boys in the northern part, while the ratio of boys that attend school in the southern region is lower than that of girls. It is an ironic situation, but too often, the focus is on the girl'. (Senior Official UBEC, 2020)

Girls are also more vulnerable to gender-based violence, which has increased during the prolonged school closures. The extended quarantine and restrictions have forced vulnerable people to stay within the proximity of their attackers. Schools can monitor and contain violations, and so are generally safe places for girls and vulnerable boys. In response to public anger, the Nigerian Forum of Governors declared a state of emergency on gender-based violence. Nigeria has one of the highest rates of child marriage in the world and out-of-school girls run the risk of being given away in arranged marriages, especially in northern Nigeria where child marriage is considered acceptable under Islamic law.

E-learning excluded learners with disabilities

The National Population Commission estimates that there are 19 million people with disabilities in Nigeria. Other than providing perfunctory support to people with physical impairments, other disabilities are largely overlooked (EduCeleb 2020). The 2015 National Policy on Special Needs Education recommends the application of technology in the education of people with special needs, but its application to distance learning was not mentioned (FMoE 2015). The National Policy on Inclusive Education (2017) acknowledges the importance of technology in the delivery of basic education to children with disabilities. The nature and extent of the disability must align with the type of technology that is being deployed for distance education. Only a few e-learning platforms are technically accessible to blind learners, and even fewer provide sign language interpreters for the hearing impaired. The instructors used for most e-learning programmes are not disability-sensitive and the materials do not consider the needs of learners.

'The available e-learning programmes in Lagos State are not designed with children with disabilities in mind, but there are some groups helping to resolve the issue'. (Special needs pupil facilitator, June 2020)

Public school teachers must become e-literate

Teachers also struggled with the transition to online learning facilitation (Obiakkor et al., 2020). Teachers' limited access to computers and the internet hampers their capacity to transition to digital learning. According to a Federal Ministry of Education official, 'more than 70% of public-school teachers are digital illiterates and may not be able to afford laptops'. However, the registrar of the Teachers Registration Council of Nigeria mentioned a plan to launch a 'one teacher, one laptop' programme that would improve the situation. Equipping and supporting public school teachers to adopt e-learning has never been so urgent.

Challenging as these may seem, the opportunities for a creative solution to problem-solving could not be better.

Parents will have the challenge of supporting their children at home

The distance learning platform requires parental support at home. The level of necessary support will depend on the technology through which the distance learning is conveyed, the parents' level of knowledge, the amount of time available, and their facilitation skills. While internet-based learning requires parents to be highly skilled and involved, radio and television carry much lower expectations. A parent articulated the concern that parents have with technology-supported learning:

'Many parents will have the challenge of supporting their children; access to internet requires buying data, electricity, and a lot more'.

The federal government provided a broad policy direction and guidelines, such as the three-scenario plan, but the state authorities implemented aspects of the guidelines that fit their particular situation, or which were supported with federal funds.

8 Finally, a wake-up call

The findings indicate inadequate policy preparation to support continued basic education and e-learning during a period of prolonged school closures. Although there were policies in place, they did not drive the practice. The steps that the government took to resolve the situation further expanded the disparity in access, with vulnerable groups at the bottom of the pile.

Nigeria must urgently deploy technology to fast-track efforts towards achieving basic education. To close the learning gap in the short term, state governments must deploy low-cost technology such as solar-powered laptops, subsidize internet access, and provide teachers with training on digital literacy. The Federal Ministry of Education must review its policies and practices to accommodate technology-driven basic education delivery. Federal and state governments should document lessons from the COVID-19 experience and use the experience to plan for better coordinated and seamless learning continuity in times of crisis. Besides exposing the failings in Nigeria's education system, the school closures have also provided opportunities for investing in the local production of low-cost educational devices like tablets and computers, and establishing regional educational radio and television stations. The government must use these opportunities to improve basic education for all, now and into the future.

References

- Amini, C.M., & Ndunagu, J.N. (2014). Higher education for all (EFA) in Nigeria: The promise of open and distance learning (ODL). *Journal of the Open University of Tanzania*, 16. www.ajol.info/index.php/huria/article/view/108741.
- Amorighoye, T.A. (2020, June 2). COVID-19 has exposed the education divide in Nigeria. This is how we can close it. www.weforum.org/agenda/2020/06/education-nigeria-COVID19-digital-divide/.
- Anunobi, C.V., & Mbawu, F.C. (2009). Prevalence of gender discrepancy in internet use in Nigeria: Implication for women empowerment. *African Research Review*, *3*(1), pp. 259–274.
- Chakravorti, B. (2017, December 12). *There's a gender gap in internet usage. Closing it would open up opportunities for everyone.* https://hbr.org/2017/12/theres-a-gender-gap-in-internet-usage-closing-it-would-open-up-opportunities-for-everyone.
- Edeh, H. (2020, April 24). COVID-19: FG grants students free subscription to close learning gaps. https://businessday.ng/education/article/COVID-19-fg-grants-students-free-subscription-to-close-learning-gaps/.
- Equality Now. (2020, April 17). COVID-19 conversations: Impact of school closure on girls in Africa. www.equalitynow.org/COVID_19_impact_african_girls.
- Federal Ministry of Education. (2015). National policy on special needs education in Nigeria. https://planipolis.iiep.unesco.org/sites/planipolis/files/ressources/nigeria_special_ needs_policy.pdf.
- Federal Ministry of Education. (2019, May). National implementation guidelines for ICT in education. http://education.gov.ng/wp-content/uploads/2019/07/NATIONAL-IMPLEMENTATION-GUIDELINES-FOR-ICT-IN-EDUCATION-2019.pdf.
- Federal Ministry of Education. (2019, May). National policy on information and communication technologies (ICT) in education. http://education.gov.ng/wp-content/ uploads/2019/08/NATIONAL-POLICY-ON-ICT-IN-EDUCATION-2019.pdf.
- Federal Ministry of Education. (2020). Radio and television education broadcast underway as education sector ends second online meeting. Press release. https://education. gov.ng/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/RADIO-AND-TELEVISION-EDUCATIONAL-BROADCAST-UNDERWAY-AS-EDUCATION-SECTOR-ENDS-SECOND-ONLINE-MEETING.pdf.
- Federal Ministry of Education. (2020, May 28). *Education coordinated COVID-19 response strategy*. https://education.gov.ng.
- Federal Ministry of Education. (2020). COVID-19: FG orders closure of unity schools. <u>http://education.gov.ng/wp-content/uploads/2020/03/COVID-19-FG-ORDERS-</u> <u>CLOSURE-OF-UNITY-SCHOOLS.pdf.</u>

Kemp, S. (2020, June 2). Digital trends 2020: Every single stat you need to know about the internet. https://thenextweb.com/podium/2020/01/30/digital-trends-2020-every-single-stat-you-need-to-know-about-the-internet/.

- Ladipo, D.Y. & Adebori, A. (2020, April 18). COVID-19 is exacerbating the problem of education inequity in Nigeria. https://nairametrics.com/2020/04/18/COVID-19-is-exacerbating-the-problem-of-educational-inequity-in-nigeria/.
- Mbah, F. (2020, March 30). *Nigeria announces lockdown of major cities to curb coronavirus.* www.aljazeera.com/news/2020/03/nigeria-announces-lockdown-major-cities-curbcoronavirus-200330095100706.html.
- Nigeria Education in Emergencies Working Group. (2020). *Nigeria education sector COVID-19 response strategy in the North East.* https://reliefweb.int/sites/reliefweb.int/ files/resources/nigeria_education_sector_COVID-19_response_strategy_north_east_. pdf.
- Obiakor, T. & Adeniran, A. (2020). COVID-19: Impending situation threatens to deepen Nigeria's education crisis. https://media.africaportal.org/documents/COVID19-Impending-Situation-Threatens-to-Deepen-Nigerias-Education-.pdf.
- Obiezu, T. (2020, June 11). *Nigeria: Coronavirus school closures push children into labour force*. https://allafrica.com/stories/202006110157.html.
- Ogundare, F. (2020, May 13). Lagos sets up support team for teachers online training. www.thisdaylive.com/index.php/2020/05/13/lagos-sets-up-support-team-forteachers-online-training/.
- Presidential Task on COVID-19. (2020). Implementation guidance for lockdown policy. https://statehouse.gov.ng/wp-content/uploads/2020/04/PTF-COVID-19-Guidance-onimplementation-of-lockdown-policy-FINAL.docx-2.pdf.
- Rufai, S. (2020). COVID-19 and the challenge of learning without schooling in Nigeria (2). https://punchng.com/covid-19-and-the-challenge-of-learning-without-schooling-innigeria-2/.
- The Cable. (2020, March 18). Lagos announces closure of schools over coronavirus. www.thecable.ng/lagos-announces-closure-of-schools-over-coronavirus.
- The National Information Technology Development Agency. (2007, October 5). The National Information Technology Development Agency Act 2007, No. 28. *Federal Republic of Nigeria official gazette*, 99(94). https://nitda.gov.ng/wp-content/uploads/2019/03/ NITDA-ACT-2007-2019-Edition.pdf.
- UNESCO. (2000). The Dakar framework for action: Education for all Meeting our collective commitments. Adopted by the World Education Forum Dakar, Senegal, 26th–28th April 2000. https://sustainabledevelopment.un.org/content/ documents/1681Dakar%20Framework%20for%20Action.pdf.
- UNESCO. (2020). School closures caused by coronavirus. https://en.unesco.org/COVID19/ educationresponse.
- U.S. Mission Nigeria. (2020, May 7). USAID helps keep Bauchi students learning under lockdown through e-learning collaboration. https://ng.usembassy.gov/usaid-helpskeep-bauchi-students-learning-under-lockdown-through-e-learning-collaboration/.
- US Embassy. (2020). USAID helps keep Bauchi students learning under lockdown through e-learning collaboration. https://ng.usembassy.gov/usaid-helps-keep-bauchistudents-learning-under-lockdown-through-e-learning-collaboration/.

World Poverty Map. (2020, May 29). https://worldpoverty.io/map.



Clear evidence, better decisions, more learning.

Publication typesetting by User Design, Illustration and Typesetting www.userdesignillustrationandtypesetting.com